
 

 
 

 

AGENDA 
 

POLICY, FINANCE AND HOUSING COMMITTEE 
MEETING 
 
Date: Wednesday, 13 October 2021 
Time:  7.00 pm 
Venue: Council Chamber, Swale House, East Street, Sittingbourne, ME10 3HT* 

 
Membership: 
 
Councillors Lloyd Bowen, Simon Clark, Steve Davey, Oliver Eakin, Tim Gibson (Vice-
Chairman), Alastair Gould, Alan Horton, Ken Ingleton, Lee McCall (Chairman), 
Hannah Perkin, David Simmons, Paul Stephen, Mike Whiting and Corrie Woodford 
 
Quorum = 3  
 
RECORDING NOTICE 
 
Please note:  this meeting may be recorded and the recording may be published on the 
Council’s website. 
 
At the start of the meeting the Chairman will confirm if all or part of the meeting is being 
audio recorded.  The whole of the meeting will be recorded, except where there are 
confidential or exempt items. 
 
You should be aware that the Council is a Data Controller under the Data Protection Act.  
Data collected using this recording will be retained in accordance with the Council’s data 
retention policy. 
 
Therefore by attending the meeting and speaking at Committee you are consenting to being 
recorded and to the possible use of those sound recordings for training purposes. 
 
If you have any queries regarding this please contact Democratic Services. 

 
  Pages 

Information about this meeting 
*Members of the press and public may follow the proceedings of this meeting 
live via a weblink which will be published on the Swale Borough Council 
website.  
 
Link to meeting: to be added 
 
Privacy Statement 
 
Swale Borough Council (SBC) is committed to protecting the privacy and 
security of your personal information. As data controller we ensure that 

 

Public Document Pack



 

 

processing is carried out in accordance with the Data Protection Act 2018 
and the General Data Protection Regulations. In calling to join the meeting 
your telephone number may be viewed solely by those Members and 
Officers in attendance at the Skype meeting and will not be shared further. 
No other identifying information will be made available through your 
joining to the meeting. In joining the meeting you are providing the 
Council with your consent to process your telephone number for the 
duration of the meeting. Your telephone number will not be retained after 
the meeting is finished. 
 
If you have any concerns or questions about how we look after your 
personal information or your rights as an individual under the 
Regulations, please contact the Data Protection Officer by email at 
dataprotectionofficer@swale.gov.uk or by calling 01795 417179. 
 
 
1.  Emergency Evacuation Procedure 

 
The Chairman will advise the meeting of the evacuation procedures to 
follow in the event of an emergency. This is particularly important for 
visitors and members of the public who will be unfamiliar with the building 
and procedures.  
 
The Chairman will inform the meeting whether there is a planned 
evacuation drill due to take place, what the alarm sounds like (i.e. ringing 
bells), where the closest emergency exit route is, and where the second 
closest emergency exit route is, in the event that the closest exit or route 
is blocked.  
 
The Chairman will inform the meeting that:  
 
(a) in the event of the alarm sounding, everybody must leave the building 
via the nearest safe available exit and gather at the Assembly points at 
the far side of the Car Park. Nobody must leave the assembly point until 
everybody can be accounted for and nobody must return to the building 
until the Chairman has informed them that it is safe to do so; and  
 
(b) the lifts must not be used in the event of an evacuation.  
 
Any officers present at the meeting will aid with the evacuation.  
 
It is important that the Chairman is informed of any person attending who 
is disabled or unable to use the stairs, so that suitable arrangements may 
be made in the event of an emergency. 
  

 

2.  Confirmation of Chairman and Vice-Chairman 
 
To confirm the Chairman and Vice-Chairman for the Municipal Year 
2021/2022. 
  

 

3.  Apologies for Absence 
 
 

 



 

 

4.  Minutes 
 
To approve the Minutes of the Meeting held on 13 July 2021. 
  

 

5.  Declarations of Interest 
 
Councillors should not act or take decisions in order to gain financial or 
other material benefits for themselves or their spouse, civil partner or 
person with whom they are living with as a spouse or civil partner.  They 
must declare and resolve any interests and relationships. 
 
The Chairman will ask Members if they have any interests to declare in 
respect of items on this agenda, under the following headings: 
 
(a) Disclosable Pecuniary Interests (DPI) under the Localism Act 
2011.  The nature as well as the existence of any such interest must be 
declared.  After declaring a DPI, the Member must leave the meeting and 
not take part in the discussion or vote.  This applies even if there is 
provision for public speaking. 

 
(b) Disclosable Non Pecuniary Interests (DNPI) under the Code of 
Conduct adopted by the Council in May 2012.  The nature as well as the 
existence of any such interest must be declared.  After declaring a DNPI 
interest, the Member may stay, speak and vote on the matter. 

 
(c) Where it is possible that a fair-minded and informed observer, 
having considered the facts would conclude that there was a real 
possibility that the Member might be predetermined or biased the 
Member should declare their predetermination or bias and then leave the 
meeting while that item is considered. 

 
Advice to Members:  If any Councillor has any doubt about the 
existence or nature of any DPI or DNPI which he/she may have in any 
item on this agenda, he/she should seek advice from the Monitoring 
Officer, the Head of Legal or from other Solicitors in Legal Services as 
early as possible, and in advance of the Meeting. 
  

 

6.  Verbal update from Cabinet Members 
 
 

 

7.  Revised Commissioning & Procurement Policy 
 
 

5 - 28 

8.  2022/23 Budget and Reserves 
 
 

29 - 40 

Issued on Tuesday, 5 October 2021 
 

The reports included in Part I of this agenda can be made available 
in alternative formats. For further information about this service, or 
to arrange for special facilities to be provided at the meeting, please 

https://services.swale.gov.uk/meetings/documents/g3556/Printed%20minutes%20Tuesday%2013-Jul-2021%2019.00%20Policy%20Finance%20and%20Housing%20Committee.pdf?T=1


 

 

contact DEMOCRATIC SERVICES on 01795 417330. To find out 
more about the work of the Cabinet, please visit www.swale.gov.uk 

 
 

 
Chief Executive, Swale Borough Council, 

Swale House, East Street, Sittingbourne, Kent, ME10 3HT 



 Page 1 of 5 

Policy, Finance & Housing Cabinet Advisory Committee  

Meeting Date 13 October 2021 

Report Title Draft Commissioning & Procurement Policy 

Cabinet Member Roger Truelove, Leader and Cabinet Member for Finance 

SMT Lead Phil Wilson, Head of Finance and Procurement 

Head of Service Phil Wilson, Head of Finance and Procurement 

Lead Officer Charlotte Knowles, Commissioning Manager 

Key Decision No 

Classification Open 

Recommendations 1. To review and discuss the draft Commissioning & 
Procurement Policy. 

 
1 Purpose of Report and Executive Summary 
 
1.1 The intention is to replace the existing Commissioning Framework and the 

Procurement Strategy documents with a combined Commissioning and 
Procurement Policy. 
 

1.2 The aim of the new Commissioning and Procurement Policy is to bring both of 
these elements together and create a seamless process that will encourage 
officers and Members to embed sound Commissioning processes in everything 
they deliver.  
 

1.3 The Policy updates the Council’s principles around commissioning decisions and 
the procurement processes for buying goods, works and services, ensuring they 
meet the Coalition’s priorities.  

 
2 Background 
 
2.1 The current Procurement Strategy was approved in 2013 and aimed to help move the 

Council in a new direction of providing services to the community.  The strategy set out 
the principles for how the Council purchased what it needed and also contained an 
action plan on how it wanted to achieve that. The action plan set short (one year or less), 
medium (one to five years) and long term (longer than five years) actions to help deliver 
this. The strategy is therefore overdue a review. 

 
2.2 The current Commissioning Framework was approved in 2012. Sitting as a separate 

document, the Commissioning Framework took a more generic approach to how the 
Council should make decisions ahead of the procurement stage. Whilst many services 
end up being procured, the various Commissioning stages help officers and Members 
to really think about what end outcome is required and what the best way of achieving 
that is. So commissioning is deciding how we deliver a service and procurement is a 
tool that could be used to achieve that.   

 

Page 5

Agenda Item 7



 Page 2 of 5 

2.3 Both of the current documents stand alongside the technical ‘Contract Standing Orders’ 
(CSO’s) and ‘Financial Regulations’ for Swale that sit within the Constitution and set our 
process rules. There is then a suite of templates that are used to complete the 
processes. These are also being reviewed and updated.   

 
2.4 Recent internal audits have been undertaken on procurement processes and contract 

management. Both audits identified areas for improvement that have been included in 
the new Commissioning and Procurement Policy. Training on Commissioning, 
Procurement and contract management has been delivered to spending officers in 
March 2021 and will be delivered every two years.  

 
2.5 The EU exit has the potential for a range of changes in this area of legislation. The EU 

principles of procurement were enshrined in UK law and as the Government were keen 
to ensure a smooth transition, very little has changed so far. Currently we adhere to the 
Public Contracts Regulations 2015 (and subsequent revisions) and the National 
Procurement Strategy 2018. However, a green paper ‘Transforming Public 
Procurement’ was released in December 2020. The consultation on this paper ran from 
15 December 2020 to 10 March 2021. The Government’s goal is to ‘speed up and 
simplify our procurement processes, place value for money at their heart, and 
unleash opportunities for small businesses, charities and social enterprises to 
innovate in public service delivery.’ The policy has been updated to include the 
national changes that have been implemented so far and it is expected that new 
legislation will be introduced to Parliament either late 2021 or early 2022. 

 
2.6 At the same time, the current administration were keen to explore new ways of 

delivering services. In order to speed up delivery of their priorities a ‘Commissioning 
working group’ was established from Cabinet and Deputy Cabinet Members. The 
working group established two workstreams – amending the Contract Standing 
Orders and revising the Procurement Strategy.  

 
2.7 A report was taken General Purposes Committee on 16 December 2020 and 

Council on 6 January 2021 which amended the Contract Standing Orders. As well 
as correcting a number of inaccuracies, the thresholds were amended to make the 
required procurement process proportionate to the level of spend and to help 
simplify the process for local businesses. The main changes were to increase the 
tender threshold from £25,000 to £100,000 and to reduce the number of quotes 
required for lower level spend. All of the changes were approved and officers are 
now operating to the new rules.  

 
2.8 The next workstream was the review of the Procurement strategy. The new 

Commissioning & Procurement Policy incorporates elements of the Commissioning 
Framework and the current Commissioning Framework will be replaced with an officer 
‘how to guide’. 

 
2.9 The purpose of the new Commissioning and Procurement Policy is to set out the 

principles for procurement. The technical CSO and Financial Regulations documents 
then cover the process.  

 

Page 6



 Page 3 of 5 

2.10 Members of the working group discussed a number of key drivers for change. They 
wanted to ensure that all options of service delivery are explored, including in-house. 
The current strategy had a propensity for ‘contracting out’, whereas members feel the 
greater flexibility and control of in-house or trading company delivery should not be ruled 
out. 

 
2.11 Member involvement in decision-making was a topic for discussion. The Local 

Government Association (LGA) produced a document called ‘A Councillors’ guide to 
procurement’ in 2019 which sets out the role Members can play. This is focussed around 
setting the corporate procurement strategy, influencing the early commissioning cycle 
stages (analyse and plan), overseeing specifications, approving final contract awards 
and then reviewing performance. The document is clear that Members should not be 
involved with commercial negotiations, or the evaluation of tenders. The policy therefore 
explains the greater role Members can play in the process.  

 
2.12 Members have set out their direction and focussed on economic development and using 

direct staff and contractor employment to support the local economy. Payment of the 
Real Living wage and making sure contracts are achievable for local, smaller companies 
are high on the list. The proposed policy includes the new option for councils to reserve 
contracts below the relevant UK thresholds (currently £189,330 for services, 
£4,733,252 for Works), to the UK or Kent County area and by Small and Medium 
Enterprises (SME) and the Voluntary and Community Sector (VCS) under 
Procurement Policy Note (PPN) 11/20. 

 
2.13 The Council has also set ambitious targets relating to the Climate and Ecological 

Emergency and Members are keen that commissioning and procurement is used to 
secure gains in reducing the Council’s carbon footprint. The proposed policy includes a 
section on the action plan. 

 
3 Proposals 
 
3.1 To review and discuss the draft Commissioning & Procurement Policy. 
 
4 Alternative Options 
 
4.1 Do nothing and keep the existing Strategy. This option is not recommended as the 

Procurement Strategy is out of date and does not meet administration priorities. 
 
5 Consultation Undertaken or Proposed 
 
5.1 Consultation was undertaken with the officer group following SMT in March. The 

group consisted of the then Head of Commissioning, Environment and Leisure, 
Chief Financial Officer, Head of Housing and Community Services, and the Head 
of Policy Governance & Customer Services. The Member Commissioning and 
Procurement Working Group and Mid Kent Legal Services have also been 
consulted. 

 
Cabinet Advisory Committee 

 

Page 7

https://services.swale.gov.uk/meetings/documents/s12779/ITEM%206%20cabinet%20july%20living%20wage%20nv4.pdf


 Page 4 of 5 

5.2 This report is due to go to the Policy, Finance and Housing Cabinet Advisory 
Committee on 13 October prior to Cabinet on 8 December. 

 
6 Implications 
 

Issue Implications 

Corporate Plan The policy supports the priority: ‘Renewing local democracy and 
making the Council fit for the future’. 

Financial, 
Resource and 
Property 

Whilst there are no direct financial implications of amending the 
previous strategy, the principles established in the new Policy could 
have an impact in the cost of service delivery. However, the draft policy 
states: “The Council will make decisions about the purchasing or 
delivery of services on the basis of value for money”. As such each 
commissioning process should look at the requirements of the 
service and business case into each of the options. 

Legal, Statutory 
and Procurement 

There is various legislation and guidance linked to the spending of 
public money. The Public Contracts Regulations 2015, Bribery Act, 
Public Services (Social Value) Act 2012. The draft policy states: 
“The Council will fulfil its statutory duties meeting the requirements 
of the Public Contracts Regulations and taking account of case law 
that emerges.” 

Crime and 
Disorder 

None identified at this stage. 

Environment and 
Climate/Ecological 
Emergency 

The draft policy contains a section on sustainable procurement and 
references the Climate and Ecological Emergency Action Plan. 
One of the key changes is the continued monitoring of methods 
presented at tender stage and the inclusion of environmental 
considerations in specifications. 

Health and 
Wellbeing 

The draft policy contains a section on Social Value. 

Safeguarding of 
Children, Young 
People and 
Vulnerable Adults 

The policy has a specific section on Safeguarding. The council 
sets different requirements for Safeguarding depending upon the 
contract type. There are strict criteria of what contractors are 
required to demonstrate at each stage. 

Risk Management 
and Health and 
Safety 

The policy requires officers and Members to assess the risks of 
each commissioning process. 

Equality and 
Diversity 

There are no differential equality issues raised by the proposals in 
this report. 

Privacy and Data 
Protection 

The standard terms and conditions that are used for procurements 
include privacy and data protection clauses. 

 
7 Appendices 
 

Page 8



 Page 5 of 5 

7.1 The following documents are to be published with this report and form part of the 
report: 

• Appendix I – Draft Commissioning & Procurement Policy 
 
8 Background Papers 
 
None. 
 
 

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



 1 

SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL 
DRAFT COMMISSIONING & PROCUREMENT POLICY 

 
INTRODUCTION 
 
Background 
 
1. Swale Borough Council is continuously exploring the best way to deliver its 

responsibilities and to procure works, goods and services for its community, to 
meet the funding challenges it has and where practicable to meet the 
aspirations of the National Procurement Strategy for Local Government. The 
Council will also have regard for the National Procurement Policy Statement 
which states that contracting authorities should consider the following national 
priority outcomes alongside any additional local priorities in their procurement 
activities:  

• creating new businesses, new jobs and new skills; 

• tackling climate change and reducing waste; and, 

• improving supplier diversity, innovation and resilience.  
 
2. The Council has a track record of improving its procurement approach and 

processes.  These include:  
 

• utilising specialist procurement support in procuring major long-term 
contracts, for example, on leisure, grounds maintenance and waste; 

• utilising a category spend approach across the Council to identify 
further opportunities for efficiency savings; 

• working collaboratively with other authorities to procure works goods 
and services where beneficial; 

• engaging with other Procurement practitioners in the County to deliver 
best practice; and, 

• engaging with local businesses to increase the number of Small and 
Medium Enterprises (SMEs) bidding for works. 

 
3.  This Policy aims to set a clear framework for commissioning and procurement 

which reflects the Council’s Corporate Plan 2020 – 2023 and its priorities. The 
new policy puts further focus on the commissioning stages and stands 
alongside Contract Standing Orders contained within the Council’s Constitution.  

 
Working definitions 
 
4. Commissioning is the process that authorities and other public sector 

agencies carry out to decide how to spend their money to get the most 
appropriate services and secure the best outcomes for the local community.  
Commissioning is a decision-making process, and the outcome of those 
decisions may result in undertaking an external procurement process or 
providing in-house or alternative delivery models. As applicable, it should be 
informed by consultation (which will comply with the relevant policy / strategy) 
with service users and research with suppliers and the market more generally 

Page 11



 2 

about what is both possible, and appropriate to provide. Commissioning 
decisions therefore balance the needs and aspirations of service users with the 
opportunities of the market and the budgets that are available. 

 
5. Procurement is the way the Council obtains works, goods and services from 

external sources. This ranges for example from everyday supplies of office 
stationery to whole service area provision and major construction projects. The 
way in which procurement takes place is subject to statutory provisions and 
case law, as well as our own Contract Standing Orders, that form part of the 
Council’s Constitution. 

 
6. Soft Market testing is an exercise designed to test commercial markets' 

capabilities of meeting a set of requirements. The outcome of market testing 
may result in the service being commissioned from an internal or an external 
service provider. The Council actively encourages market testing and market 
engagement.  

 
7. Outsourcing is the award of a contract to an external service provider without 

any in-house bid being involved.   
 
8. Partnerships have many variations. They include the provision of shared 

services; for example, through Mid Kent Services, which includes Swale, 
Maidstone and Tunbridge Wells Borough Councils. They may provide an 
opportunity to develop an approach to service delivery that moves away from a 
contractual relationship to an agreement based potentially on shared objectives, 
shared risk, mutual learning, joint investment and sharing of reward. 

 
9. In delivering a modern approach to good commissioning and procurement 

practice the essentials include: 
 

• ensuring that all procurements over the value of £5,000 or more are 
added to the Commissioning Forward Plan; 

• starting the process early, allowing sufficient time for a thorough 
assessment of the need and options available prior to tendering. 
Councillor involvement at this stage is important; and, 

• adopting a proportionate approach built around recognition of the 
commissioning and procurement cycle and the four stages: 

 
o Analyse - ‘Analyse’ is the first stage of the Commissioning 

Cycle.  It involves reviewing the current service by engaging with 
employees, managers, Councillors and relevant partners to gain 
a greater understanding of the service and reviewing the needs 
of service users. It will also involve looking at national strategy / 
policy, comparable situations nationally, and any new services 
that may be available in the market. 
 

o Plan - Based on the outcome of the ‘Analyse’ stage, the ‘Plan’ 
stage will identify whether there are any duplications or gaps in 
service provision. It will identify which resources are available, 
and which are required to deliver identified needs. Decisions can 

Page 12



 3 

then be taken on the allocation of resources in line with priorities 
and the move towards the design of an appropriate service. 
Certain contracts will require robust project management 
planning.  

 
o Do - The ‘Do’ stage involves ensuring that services are delivered 

efficiently, effectively and as planned.  For in-house services, it is 
still important that project plans or procedures/delivery guidelines 
are created. If external involvement will be necessary, a 
procurement process or a ‘transparent competitive’ process will 
be carried out and a suitable provider will be secured. 

 
o Review - The ‘Review’ stage involves monitoring the service and 

its impact and analysing whether the service is achieving the 
intended outcome. This involves analysing data on finance, 
activity and outcomes, and consulting with service users. 
Performance management for in-house services or contract 
management for external suppliers is key. An evaluation will then 
be completed. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
CORE PRINCIPLES 
 
Ethical behaviour 
 
10. The highest standards of professional behaviour are expected from all 

Councillors and officers in their dealings with partners and suppliers. Officers 
will comply fully with the requirements of the Bribery Act 2010 and the Council 

Page 13

https://www.swale.gov.uk/assets/Procurement/Procurement-Policies/Bribery-Act-Policy.pdf


 4 

expects our suppliers to comply also. We will act with integrity and, openness in 
accordance with the Public Contracts Regulations 2015 when we undertake 
procurement, and we will embrace the requirements for transparency. Any 
conflicts of interest in the procurement process will be documented and 
managed in line with our constitution. All decisions will be communicated 
clearly. 

 
11. All officers involved in the commissioning and procurement process will act 

fairly with our suppliers in all matters, including ensuring prompt payment in 
accordance with agreed terms. Should disputes arise we will seek to resolve 
them promptly.  There will be no favouritism or bias shown towards one supplier 
over another. Our actions will, therefore, be underpinned by our values: 

 

• Fairness - being objective to balance the needs of all those in our 
community 

• Integrity - being open, honest and taking responsibility 

• Respect - embracing and valuing the diversity of others 

• Service - delivering high quality, cost effective public service 

• Trust - delivering on our promises to each other, customers and our 
partners. 

 
12. Swale Borough Council expects its suppliers to hold the following principles: 

 

• Safe working conditions 

• Promotion of good health 

• Employment is freely chosen 

• Non-excessive working hours (in line with the Working Time Directive) 

• Training is provided 

• Non discrimination 

• Diversity, equality and good workforce practices are encouraged  

• Elimination of child labour 

• Elimination of inhumane treatment. 

 
Effective practice 
 
13. The Council will fulfil its statutory duties meeting the requirements of the Public 

Contracts Regulations and taking account of case law that emerges. We will 
also ensure that we follow our own Contract Standing Orders, Constitution, 
internal audit and other best practice requirements. 
 

14. No one individual shall be empowered to authorise all stages of the tender 
process. There should be a minimum of three tender evaluators, tender awards 
will be approved either by the relevant Head of Service (<£100,000) or by the 

Page 14



 5 

Cabinet (£100,000+) and there are other controls in place such as invoice 
approval limits.  

 
15. As part of the commissioning and procurement planning process, the length and 

type of supplier relationship will be decided that is appropriate to what is being 
purchased having undertaken market analysis where appropriate. Supplier 
relationships will incorporate the principles of continuous improvement and seek 
to obtain targeted improvements in delivery, quality and price. 

 
Decision Making 
 
16. Examples of when Commissioning and Procurement processes may be taken 

include: 
 

• as part of the Council's annual service planning and budgeting process; 

• prior to the expiry of an existing contract; 

• following a fundamental service review as a matter of urgency if a 
service / contract is failing; and, 

• when a new priority or project emerges. 

 
17. Decisions on service delivery must be based on clear and justifiable evidence.  

They must also be transparent and have an audit trail which can be scrutinised. 
 
18. The lowest price will not be the sole criteria for establishing value but will be an 

important factor to secure cashable efficiency savings for the Council. Criteria 
will be established prior to tender exercises to enable a balanced assessment to 
be made which considers quality, deliverability and fitness for purpose as 
appropriate. Such criteria will be shared with potential suppliers and will usually 
be the Most Economically Competitive Tender (MEAT). 

 
The role of Councillors in Commissioning and Procurement 

 
19. Councillors are a key part of any commissioning process as detailed in the 

Local Government Association’s 2019 publication ‘A Councillor’s guide to 
procurement’. The Cabinet adopts the corporate commissioning and 
procurement policy to make sure it aligns with the corporate priorities.  
 

20. Councillors should be involved in a number of the stages of the commissioning 
process from working with officers at the early stages of service delivery 
decisions, to assisting with setting the specifications and devising ‘quality’ 
evaluation questions. Members may not take part in evaluation of bids. The 
Cabinet is then also responsible at the contract approval point in accordance 
with CSOs, to ensure that the procurement has delivered the outcomes 
intended at the start.  

 
21. The role of Scrutiny Committee also provides an additional opportunity for 

decisions to be challenged.  
 

Page 15



 6 

22. Following award of contract, Lead officers / Heads of Service should provide 
Councillors with regular contract monitoring information to enable them to 
review performance of strategic suppliers and take prompt action as 
appropriate.  

 
Risk Management 
 
23. The Council will make sure that any risks to the authority or the community it 

serves are properly recognised in all its commissioning and procurement 
activity. It will identify risks, evaluate their potential consequences, and 
effectively manage those risks accordingly at every stage of the process. Risk 
logs will be created for all procurements over £100,000 over the life of the 
contract including any extension period/s. However, there may be low value 
procurements that are high risk that may also require risk logs. 
 

24. The standard risk management process e.g. corporate and operational risk 
registers should assess the risks of contracts when they have been 
commissioned and throughout their lifetime. This is a lead officer function and 
overseen by Heads of Service.  

 
Supporting Local Businesses and Small and Medium Enterprises 
 
25. We will aim to work with local businesses and community organisations, as well 

as micro, small and medium enterprises (SMEs) more generally, as far as the 
legal framework allows. 

 
26. As part of its encouragement of partnerships, the Council will continue to 

support the development of capacity within the Voluntary and Community 
Sector (VCS)  through providing guidance and adhering to the principles of the 
Kent Partners’ Compact agreement. 

 
27. From 1 January 2021, councils may reserve contracts below the relevant UK 

thresholds under the Regulations, to the UK or Kent County area and by SME / 
VCS under Procurement Policy Note (PPN) 11/20. 

 
28. Where possible, the Council will package procurement works in a way that 

enables small local business to demonstrate their competitive advantage. 
 
29. The Council will ensure that procurement processes are appropriate to the 

scale and risk involved so that they are not unduly onerous especially for local 
and small suppliers. 

 
The Public Services (Social Value) Act 2012 
 
30. The Public Services (Social Value) Act 2012 places a requirement on 

commissioners to consider the economic, environmental, and social benefits of 
their approaches to procurement before the process starts. They also must 
consider whether they should consult on these issues. 

 
31. When considering how a procurement process might improve the social, 

economic, and environmental well-being of a relevant area the Council will only 

Page 16



 7 

consider those matters that are relevant and proportionate to the proposed 
procurement and will take those matters into account. 

 
32. As a minimum, the Council will consider Social Value in all tenders over 

£100,000, however, it should also be considered for any relevant contracts 
below this threshold. 

 
33. Social value will include any demonstrable contribution that each bidder intends 

to make towards the elements set out in Table 1 below. Additional elements 
specific to individual procurement exercises may be identified through the pre-
procurement ‘market testing’ commissioning phase of the process. 

 
Table 1:  Examples of Social Value 
 

Economic Environmental Social 

Numbers of local jobs 
created and sustained 

Contributing to climate 
change mitigation targets 

Increasing volunteering 
opportunities 

Number of apprentice 
positions 

Championing and using 
environmentally friendly 
goods and services 

Enabling community 
development and 
engagement 

Number of work placement 
schemes for school age 
residents 

Reducing carbon footprint 
and food miles 

Encouraging social 
integration and community 

cohesion (social capital) 

Number of people taken out 
of ‘out of work’ benefits 

Protecting biodiversity Enhancing and celebrating 
local culture and heritage 

Number of training 
opportunities 

Waste minimisation, reuse 
and recycling 

Contributing to health 
improvement programme 
and addressing health 
inequalities Ensuring fair working 

conditions and payment 
Reduced pollution  

Ensuring ethical supply (e.g. 
Fair Trade) 

Water use minimisation and 
energy efficiency 

 

 
34. Officers should consider adding social value factors into specifications and the 

assessment of social value shall also be included as a separately identifiable 
and scored component of the ‘quality’ element. This shall comprise 20% of the 
quality element. Therefore, if the cost-quality balance is 60%:40%, the social 
value component of the whole assessment exercise will be 8%. 

 
35. Assessment of Social Value will be undertaken in the same way as the 

‘quality’ element of all tenders – with tenderers setting out their proposals 
against our broadly defined preferred ‘social value’ aspirations and these 
being scored through the assessment process.   

 
Sustainable Procurement  
 

Page 17



 8 

36. Swale Borough Council declared a climate and ecological emergency on 26 
June 2019 and  has adopted a Climate and Ecological Emergency Action Plan. 
Best endeavours should be made to applying its principles to procurement 
policies and processes covering goods and works as well as services.  
However, we recognise this may not be possible in all contracts as there may 
be a need to balance the cost of these with the cost of other priorities.  
 

37. The Action Plan identifies seven focus areas: 
 

• Council operations - The majority of the Council’s carbon footprint comes 
from procured services. As contracts come up for renewal and further 
technology becomes more mainstream, there is an opportunity to secure 
services that have a lower carbon footprint. For example, the Council 
have replaced its fleet vehicles with electric vehicles. The Council also 
aims to eliminate single-use plastics from Council operations wherever 
possible. 

• Buildings and energy efficiency – The Council aims to improve energy 
efficiency of the homes in Swale and has contracted a fuel and water 
poverty outreach service to help vulnerable residents reduce utility bills 
and energy consumption. 

• Transport and air quality – The Council are seeking to make sustainable 
transport more attractive to improve air quality and reduce carbon 
emissions. It is committed to installing more EV charging points across 
the borough. 

• Resource consumption and waste – The Council aims to reduce the 
amount of waste and to maximise the proportion that is recycled or 
composted.  

• Ecology and biodiversity - Ecology, biodiversity and green space are vital 
to mitigating climate change. The Council aims to increase tree planting 
on Council land and minimise contractors’ use of fertilizers, pesticides 
and weed killers. 

• Energy generation and storage - Renewable energy is a key component 
of how Swale will achieve zero net carbon emissions. Our utility supply 
contract now supplies green electricity and green gas. 

• Resilience, adaption and offsetting – The Council aims to ensure that the 
borough is robustly prepared for a changing climate and that robust 
adaptation measures are implemented to ensure resilience for all. 

38. It is recognised that procurement has a vital role in furthering sustainable 
development, through our procurement of goods, services and works. 
Therefore, all procurement decisions should consider and where possible 
embed the climate and ecological emergency. The Council will strive to 
achieve the following: 

 
People, education and awareness 

 

Page 18



 9 

• Educate, train and encourage staff to review their consumption of goods 
and services, reduce usage and adopt usage of more environmentally 
friendly products. 

• Communicate our approach to sustainable procurement to all staff, 
suppliers and stakeholders. 

 
Procurement strategy, policy and process 

 

• Promote and embed best practice for sustainable procurement. 

• Where appropriate, work in partnership with other public bodies and 
councils to maximise sustainable procurement gains through 
collaboration and information sharing. 

 
Environmental products 

 

• Consider the costs and benefits of environmentally-friendly goods and 
services including minimising ‘procurement miles’ to help reduce the 
Council’s carbon footprint. 

• Where such exact specification is not possible, enable suppliers to 
submit offers for environmentally friendly alternatives. 

• Continue to improve the levels of recycling, reduced usage, bulk delivery 
and better packaging. 

 
Engaging suppliers 

 

• Communicate our sustainability objectives to our contractors and 
suppliers. 

• Encourage and persuade our contractors and suppliers to adopt 
environmentally friendly processes and supply environmentally friendly 
goods and services as part of the Climate and Ecological Emergency 
agenda. 

• Use sustainability criteria, part of the Social Value supplier evaluation 
process, in the award of contracts. 

 
Measurements and results 

 

• Comply with all legislation relevant to sustainability. 

• Officers will be required to regularly monitor sustainability outcomes 
throughout the delivery of the contract which will be included within the 
contract management guidance. 

 
Equalities and Diversity 

 

Page 19



 10 

39. The Council's commitment to equal opportunities as regards service users and 
potential service users, contractor staffing and relationships with our own staff, 
will be built into procurement considerations. 

 
40. We will seek to reflect the diversity, profile and nature of our community as part 

our approach to commissioning.   
 
41. We will have regard to appropriate workforce strategies in the contractual 

process. 
 
42. We will build equality into how we commission, procure and deliver services in 

accordance with the Council’s Equalities Scheme. We will include a 
proportionate assessment of tenderers’ approaches to equalities and diversity 
as part of our evaluation criteria as appropriate. 

 
Staffing-related issues 
 
43. If an in-house service is being outsourced, employees affected by the 

procurement process will be consulted and those who may transfer as a 
consequence of a procurement decision will be protected under the Transfer 
of Undertakings (Protection of Employment) Regulations 2006 (TUPE). TUPE 
legislation protects employee rights when the business or undertaking for 
which they work transfers to a new employer. The Council will ensure that 
legislation is observed in all applicable contract opportunities let by the Council 
where staff may be transferred from an incumbent contractor to a new 
supplier. 

 
44. The Council is committed to ensuring that contractors are good employers and 

will look to ensure that contractors (and their subcontractors) utilise local 
labour wherever possible, particularly for apprenticeship schemes and similar. 
 

45. In July 2019, the Council made a commitment to paying the Real Living Wage 
for its directly employed staff and a commitment to review its application to the 
Council’s contracts. For contracts, this applies to those contracted staff who 
work two or more hours a week, for eight or more consecutive weeks a year. 
The Real Living Wage does not apply to contractors that supply the Council 
with products e.g. stationery suppliers. Best endeavours should be made to 
paying the Real Living Wage where applicable in all contracts as they come up 
for renewal, but we recognise this may not be possible in all contracts, 
particularly contracts shared with other authorities. 
 

Category management 
 

46. Where multiple departments purchase similar products or services, a category 
management approach should be considered. Nominated lead officers for 
individual categories of cumulative expenditure of £100,000 or more, over a 
four-year period are responsible for reviewing opportunities to make further 
improvement in value for money, in conjunction with the Head of Service with 
responsibility for commissioning. Current categories include: 

 
 

Page 20

https://services.swale.gov.uk/meetings/documents/s12779/ITEM%206%20cabinet%20july%20living%20wage%20nv4.pdf


 11 

Category Current Responsible Officer 

Fleet Vehicles Commissioning Manager  

Stationery Head of Property 

ICT equipment and software IT Business Manager 

Agency Staff HR Manager 

Utilities Head of Property 

Legal Fees Head of Legal Partnership 

Advertising, printing and graphics Communications Manager 

Recruitment and training HR Manager 

Building maintenance Head of Property 

 
New categories will be periodically added through the analysis of spend 
undertaken by the commissioning team.  

 
Appraisal of alternative service delivery options 
 
47. When considering commissioning services, a range of delivery options  should 

be considered. Each service should be assessed on its merits, considering all 
the pros and cons, having regard to benchmarking and the cost of the 
procurement process balanced against the risks and cost-benefit of the 
options for service delivery. 

 
48. When considering commissioning and procurement the options include: 

 

• consider whether the service is still required or whether it should be de-
commissioned 

• collaborate with partners 

• provide services in-house  

• outsource those services; or 

• Re-commission to revised specification. 

 
49. Council services will be regularly reviewed to ensure they are being delivered in 

the most cost-effective manner.  
 

Types of contract 
 

50. We will use the most appropriate contracting arrangement available for any 
given circumstance. For some contracts, there will be a straightforward 
contractual relationship, whereby we place an order and make payment once 
it is delivered. However, for other goods and services, particularly those that 
are delivered over a long period of time, there is much less certainty for both 
parties, and it may therefore be appropriate to enter into  longer contracts 
whereby the relationship between the client and the contractor is a more open 
and transparent one, sharing both risks and returns. The Council will 
continually review its standard contract terms and conditions and will be used 
in the majority of cases. Any deviations will be agreed by the relevant officers 
stated in the Contracted Standing Orders.  

Page 21



 12 

  
51. We will ensure that contracts build in efficiency improvement expectations. 

Where risks are shared and where there are opportunities for ‘profit sharing’ 
arrangements, open book accounting will be considered.  

 
52. For contracts with a duration of 5+ years, the Council should consider including 

an inflationary mechanism. Currently, the Council’s preferred method is the 
Consumer Price Index (CPI). For more specialist and complex contracts, a 
basket of indices may be considered.  

 
Minimising the transactions cost of procurement 

 
53. We will aim to minimise the ‘transactional’ costs of conducting procurement 

activities. There are two key methods for doing this. One way is to use 
Framework agreements wherever appropriate to expedite the procurement 
process. Framework agreements are a form of procurement used to create an 
“umbrella” agreement with suppliers. They set out the terms and conditions 
under which works, goods, or services can be purchased throughout the period 
of the agreement, including price, quality, quantities, and timescales. 
Frameworks are beneficial as they can save the need to issue repeated tenders 
for the same or similar requirements. There are many Frameworks available to 
Local Authorities that are managed by other buying authorities or by specialist 
organisations such as Yorkshire Purchasing Organisation (YPO), Eastern 
Shires Purchasing Organisation (ESPO) or the Crown Commercial Service. The 
use of Frameworks can lead to economies of scale, reduced administrative 
burden and consequent savings. However, this should be balanced with the use 
of local suppliers who are not normally listed on national Frameworks. 
 

54. The second way of minimising the transaction cost of procurement would be to 
undertake joint procurement processes with other authorities to share tendering 
costs. 

 
Tendering 

 
55. The procurement process will follow the Council’s statutory duties meeting the 

Public Contracts Regulations and taking account of case law that emerges.  We 
will also ensure that we follow our own Contract Standing Orders, Constitution 
and internal audit and other best practice requirements. 

 
56. The tendering process will be monitored independently via our corporate 

Commissioning team and relevant Head of Service. Any complaints or queries 
regarding a tendering process will also be dealt with independently via Internal 
Audit in the first instance.  

 
Evaluation techniques 
 
57. The Standard Differential Model (SDM): based on price and quality. SDM 

awards the lowest price/cost (excluding abnormally low bids) maximum points, 
and the other tenderers scores are reduced in proportion with their price. 
(Lowest tender price / by tender price x price weighting e.g. 60) For example: 

 

Page 22



 13 

 Financial scoring: 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
58. The quality/non-price score is then added to the price score and the contract is 

awarded to the tender/s with the highest points. This is known as the Most 
Economically Advantageous Tender (MEAT). 

 
59. SDM is the most widely used evaluation method but has a substantial emphasis 

on price, if there is more than a 40% weighting on price, it is likely that the 
lowest price will win. 

 
Price / Quality Evaluation 

 
60. The Council will make decisions about the purchasing or delivery of services on 

the basis of value for money; that is to say the best balance of price and quality, 
and not simply on the basis of the lowest cost. 

 
61. The Council will adopt an assumed default of 60% cost and 40% quality for the 

purposes of assessing both formal tenders and Expressions of Interest. 
 
62. Deviations from this default will be permitted, though these will require 

justification and approval in advance by the Director or Head of Service for the 
relevant area and the Commissioning Manager. Justifications will be determined 
on their merits, and the precedents that are set as a result. Examples of when 
deviations may be permitted include: 

 

• consultancy work where there is a higher weighting on quality or 
technical assessment; 

• construction or demolition work (which is more regulated and 
quantifiable) may be weighted more toward price; 

• s106 contributions; and, 

• externally funded projects/goods/services. 
 

63. However, deviation will not normally be permitted beyond a maximum of 80% 
for either cost or quality – in other words, there will be at least 20% of the 
assessment based on either cost or quality unless: 

 

• The duration of the contract will not exceed 4 weeks and  

• the nature of the goods or services being provided is such that there is 
no ability for the suppliers/contractors to offer a difference in terms of 
quality (e.g. demolition) and  

• the value of the contract will not exceed £100,000. 

Tender 
Company 

Price 
Submitted 
£ 

Points Awarded 

A 50,000 60.00 

B 55,000 54.54 

C 57,000 52.63 

D 67,000 44.78 

Page 23



 14 

 
64. Where relevant, the assessment of Health & Safety shall be included as a 

separately identifiable and scored component of the ‘quality’ element as 
appropriate. 

 
65. Where tenders appear to be abnormally low, bidders must be given the 

opportunity to explain the price or costs proposed in their tender. The lead 
officer (in conjunction with Mid Kent Legal Services) must then assess the 
information provided by consulting the tenderer. The tender may, not must, be 
rejected if the evidence supplied does not satisfactorily account for the low 
level of price or costs proposed. 

 
66. Where stated within the procurement documentation, submissions that fail to 

meet the minimum quality score (i.e. less than 50%) may be excluded whether 
or not other points awarded to the bidder are higher than those awarded to the 
successful supplier. 
 

Alternative Evaluation Models 
 

67. The Standard Differential Model may not be the best model for all 
procurements. There are around 27 different evaluation models, some of the 
most well-known and commonly used are listed below. Through this new 
policy each procurement exercise will be determined on its merits to identify 
the most appropriate method for each at the early commissioning stages.  

 
68. Use of alternative evaluation models should be approved by the relevant 

Director or Head of Service and the Commissioning Manager. 
 
69. Ratio evaluation: The basic principle to calculate a tender’s value for money 

is to divide, quite literally, value by money (Quality score divided by price = 
Quality/Price score). For example: 
 

Tender Quality Score Price 
Quality/Price 

Score 

A 50 £10 5.0 

B 66 £12 5.5 

C 60 £15 4.0 

D 75 £15 5.0 

 
70. Kuiper 2: This is a variation on the Ratio Evaluation and turns the calculation 

around, so that you divide the price by the quality score, but in this method, 
the contract is awarded to the lowest score not the highest. Example:  
 

Tender Price Quality Score 
Quality/Price 

Score 

A £10 50 0.20 

B £12 66 0.18 

C £15 60 0.25 

D £15 75 0.20 

 

Page 24



 15 

71. Telgen: To use this method, a price range must be set, defining the maximum 
and minimum prices. The price calculation is then defined by subtracting the 
individual bid price from the maximum price and dividing that score by the 
score defined by subtracting the minimum price from the maximum price: 
 
(Max Price – Bid price) ÷ (Max Price – Min Price) = Weight of the price 
 

Min price Max price Bid price Weight of the Price 

£8 £30 £10 0.91 

£8 £30 £12 0.82 

£8 £30 £15 0.68 

 
72. The Weighted Price score is then added to the Weighted Quality score to 

identify the winning bid. 
 

Insurance Levels 
 

73. The standard levels of insurance cover that contractors / suppliers should hold 
are: 
 

• Employer Liability minimum £10 million 

• Public Liability minimum £5 million 

• Professional Indemnity £2 million (if applicable) 

• Product Liability £2million (if applicable) 
 

74. Lower levels may be accepted by the Head of Finance & Procurement in 
certain circumstances such as if there is no potential for financial loss to the 
Council. 

 
Safeguarding 
 
75. All contracts over £25,000 will have a Safeguarding Level assigned, either Nil, 

Bronze, Silver or Gold. However, there may be additional contracts regardless 
of value that require a safeguarding level set. The relevant service manager 
will be responsible for considering this for contracts with a value of less than 
£25,000. Suppliers will need to meet the required standard of the assigned 
levels: 
 

Safeguarding 
Level 

Description 

Nil 
 
 

Contract irrelevant to safeguarding  
 
No contact with children/young people/vulnerable adults and/or 
parents/carers 
 

Bronze 
 
 

Limited contact with children/young people/vulnerable adults and/or 
parents/carers 
 

Page 25



 16 

Silver 
 
 

Regular contact with children/young people/vulnerable adults and/or 
parents/carers  
 
Not direct service to vulnerable people but regular contact within 
delivery of services 
 

Gold 
 
 

Regular contact with children/young people/vulnerable adults and/or 
parents/carers or any unsupervised contact 
 
Direct service to vulnerable people, safeguarding essential to service 
 

 
76. More detailed requirements of each level can be found within Bronze, Silver 

and Gold Safeguarding Requirements document (contained in Annex 1). 
 
Contract Management 
 
77. All contracts (including partnering arrangements etc) will include standard 

terms and conditions and performance measures based on the outcomes set 
out in the specification. These will clearly set out what information needs to be 
collected and submitted (including clear definitions), how often, in what format 
etc. It will be a requirement that the winning tenderer agrees to comply with all 
Council policies and statutory requirements, for example the Data Quality 
policy.  

 
78. Each officer responsible for the management of a contract will have regular (at 

least quarterly is recommended) meetings with contractors as appropriate to 
the contract to discuss Key Performance Indicators, and how the service can 
be delivered more efficiently and/or effectively to secure continuous 
improvement. 
 

79. Lead officers should monitor contracts to ensure that any added value 
(including Social Value and Climate Emergency commitments) which were 
proposed in the tender over and above the original specification is achieved. 

 
80. Any contract changes must be fully documented. Material changes must be by 

formal contract variation in consultation with Mid Kent Legal Services and 
Commissioning. 

 
81. Where there are emerging service delivery failures, an action plan will be 

agreed with the contractor to restore performance to that specified. The 
Council will be clear about the ladder of escalation up to and including contract 
termination, including the use of financial penalties if specified in the contract. 

 
82. Where there are contract disputes the Council will seek to resolve them  

swiftly, using the methodology provided in the contracts themselves, such as 
mediation. If the process has to be escalated, then Mid Kent Legal Services 
can assist with either terminating the contract or advising on litigation strategy. 
 
 

Page 26

http://sbcintranet/procurement/_layouts/xlviewer.aspx?id=/procurement/Shared%20Documents/R.%20Safeguarding/Commissioning%20checklist%20gold%20silver%20bronze%20-%20revised%20November%202019.xlsx&Source=http%3A%2F%2Fsbcintranet%2Fprocurement%2FShared%2520Documents%2FForms%2FAllItems%2Easpx%3FRootFolder%3D%252Fprocurement%252FShared%2520Documents%252FR%252E%2520Safeguarding%26FolderCTID%3D0x0120009C5674E27E49D942AC5C112895F8F643%26View%3D%7BF355FF18%2D9F96%2D4EAE%2DA304%2DE1DCDDCC60C0%7D%26InitialTabId%3DRibbon%252EDocument%26VisibilityContext%3DWSSTabPersistence&DefaultItemOpen=1&DefaultItemOpen=1
http://sbcintranet/procurement/_layouts/xlviewer.aspx?id=/procurement/Shared%20Documents/R.%20Safeguarding/Commissioning%20checklist%20gold%20silver%20bronze%20-%20revised%20November%202019.xlsx&Source=http%3A%2F%2Fsbcintranet%2Fprocurement%2FShared%2520Documents%2FForms%2FAllItems%2Easpx%3FRootFolder%3D%252Fprocurement%252FShared%2520Documents%252FR%252E%2520Safeguarding%26FolderCTID%3D0x0120009C5674E27E49D942AC5C112895F8F643%26View%3D%7BF355FF18%2D9F96%2D4EAE%2DA304%2DE1DCDDCC60C0%7D%26InitialTabId%3DRibbon%252EDocument%26VisibilityContext%3DWSSTabPersistence&DefaultItemOpen=1&DefaultItemOpen=1


 17 

Annex I 
 
Other Policies / Strategies linked to Commissioning & Procurement 
 

• Corporate Plan 2020 - 2023 

• Local First Policy 

• Corporate Equality Scheme 2016 - 2020 

• Medium Term Financial Plan 

• Community Asset Transfer Policy 

• Service Improvement and Value for Money Strategy 

• ICT Strategy 

• Risk Management Framework 

• Kent Environment Strategy 

• Climate Change and Ecological Emergency Action Plan 

• Commissioning - How to guide 

• Contract Management Guidance 

• Protected Disclosure Policy (Whistleblowing) 

• Bribery Act Policy 

• Swale Borough Council Constitution 

• Safeguarding Policy 

• Kent Partners’ Compact agreement 

• PPN 11/20 - Reserving Below Threshold Procurements 

• Bronze, Silver and Gold Safeguarding Requirements 

• National Procurement Policy Statement 

• National Procurement Strategy for Local Government 

• Data Quality Standard 
 

Page 27

https://services.swale.gov.uk/assets/Publications/Council/Corporate%20Plan%202020%20-%202023%20Final%20Version.pdf
https://archive.swale.gov.uk/assets/Strategies-plans-and-policies-2015/Local-First-Policy.pdf
https://archive.swale.gov.uk/assets/Strategies-plans-and-policies-2015/Local-First-Policy.pdf
https://www.swale.gov.uk/assets/Consultations/Corporate-Equality-Scheme-2016.pdf
https://www.swale.gov.uk/assets/Finance/Medium-Term-Financial-Plan-and-2017-18-Revenue-and-Capital-Budgets.pdf
http://archive.swale.gov.uk/assets/Strategies-Plans-and-Policies-2014/Community-Asset-Transfer-policy-Nov-2014.pdf
https://services.swale.gov.uk/assets/Strategies-plans-and-policies/ServiceImprovementandValueforMoneyStrategy.pdf
https://intranet.mkip.org/sites/mkip/ict/SitePages/news.aspx
http://sbcintranet/audit/rm/Shared%20Documents/Swale%20Risk%20Management%20Framework%20-%202019%20FINAL.pdf
http://sbcintranet/audit/rm/Shared%20Documents/Swale%20Risk%20Management%20Framework%20-%202019%20FINAL.pdf
https://www.kent.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0020/10676/KES_Final.pdf
https://services.swale.gov.uk/assets/Climate-Change-and-Ecological-Emergency/Swale-Borough-Council-Climate-Change-and-Ecological-Emergency-Action-Plan.pdf
http://archive.swale.gov.uk/assets/Procurement/SBC-Commissioning-Framework.pdf
http://sbcintranet/procurement/_layouts/WordViewer.aspx?id=/procurement/Shared%20Documents/C.%20Procurement%20list%20of%20Procedures/SBC%20Contract%20Management%20Guidance%2024.08.21.docx&Source=http%3A%2F%2Fsbcintranet%2Fprocurement%2FShared%2520Documents%2FForms%2FAllItems%2Easpx%3FRootFolder%3D%252Fprocurement%252FShared%2520Documents%252FC%252E%2520Procurement%2520list%2520of%2520Procedures%26FolderCTID%3D0x0120009C5674E27E49D942AC5C112895F8F643%26View%3D%7BF355FF18%2D9F96%2D4EAE%2DA304%2DE1DCDDCC60C0%7D&DefaultItemOpen=1&DefaultItemOpen=1
https://www.swale.gov.uk/whistleblowing-policy/
https://www.swale.gov.uk/assets/Procurement/Procurement-Policies/Bribery-Act-Policy.pdf
https://services.swale.gov.uk/meetings/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=287&MId=1469&Ver=4&Info=1&a=1
http://sbcintranet/hrinfo/Policies%20and%20procedures/POLICY%20-%20Safeguarding.pdf
https://www.kent.gov.uk/about-the-council/strategies-and-policies/corporate-policies/kent-partners-compact
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/943915/PPN_11_20_-_Reserving_Below_Threshold_Procurements.pdf
http://sbcintranet/procurement/_layouts/xlviewer.aspx?id=/procurement/Shared%20Documents/R.%20Safeguarding/Commissioning%20checklist%20gold%20silver%20bronze%20-%20revised%20November%202019.xlsx&Source=http%3A%2F%2Fsbcintranet%2Fprocurement%2FShared%2520Documents%2FForms%2FAllItems%2Easpx%3FRootFolder%3D%252Fprocurement%252FShared%2520Documents%252FR%252E%2520Safeguarding%26FolderCTID%3D0x0120009C5674E27E49D942AC5C112895F8F643%26View%3D%7BF355FF18%2D9F96%2D4EAE%2DA304%2DE1DCDDCC60C0%7D%26InitialTabId%3DRibbon%252EDocument%26VisibilityContext%3DWSSTabPersistence&DefaultItemOpen=1&DefaultItemOpen=1
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/990289/National_Procurement_Policy_Statement.pdf
https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/national-procurement-strategy-local-government-england-2018
https://www.swale.gov.uk/data-quality-standard-2/
https://www.swale.gov.uk/data-quality-standard-2/


This page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

Cabinet Advisory Committee 13 October 2021 

Briefing Note 

2022/23 Budget and Reserves 

 

2022/23 Budget 

1. A report on the 2022/23 Budget was considered by the Policy, Finance and 
Housing Cabinet Advisory Committee on 13 July and it was agreed that there 
would be the opportunity for the Committee to consider constructive ways to 
reduce spending. 

2. In the last two years there have been very few spending reductions and in fact 
there has been significant growth, largely funded from one off monies.  From 
the MTFP the current cost base is clearly not sustainable, but it is also 
questionable how viable services can still be provided if spending reductions 
are made.  

3. The current Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) shows a gap of £3.3 million 
for 2022/23 which is already forecast to increase to £4.3 million in 2023/24.  
These figures exclude additional pressures in year e.g., covid pressures (loss 
of car parking income) and homelessness cost pressures.   

4. Members are likely to have to take some challenging decisions to ensure the 
budget is balanced.  To balance the 2022/23 and future budgets we feel the 
following options are open to us: 

• increase income; 

• spending reductions; 

• reviewing service provision for non statutory services; 

• reviewing level of service for statutory services; and, 

• careful use of reserves. 

5. Given this challenging budget gap, the approach to budget setting includes 
the following: 

• Heads of Service to identify savings of 5% on the 2021/22 staffing budget; 

• Heads of Service to look at the reserves to determine whether the entire 
reserve is still required; 

• Heads of Service look at all the fees and charges and work to ensure that 
we increase existing fees which would provide the maximum increase in 
the overall income to the Council whilst meeting Council policies; 

Page 29

Agenda Item 8



2 
 

• The recharges for shared services to be “capped” at the budget for 
2021/22 even after including the effect of pay awards, inflation, etc at 
Maidstone or T Wells councils.  This will be instead of asking for a 5% 
saving on staff costs.   

6. Appendix I shows the 2021/22 budget per service and type of expenditure.  
Members are asked to review the budget as detailed in appendix I and to 
prioritise services or areas for increasing income/ reducing spending. 

7. The budget and the fees and charges proposals for 2022/23 will be going to all 
three Cabinet Advisory Committees at the meetings in January 2022.  

Reserves 

8. As at 31 March 2021 the reserves were £25.5m.  These reserves are 
predominantly earmarked for particular functions. 

9. Reserves can be used to balance the budget but as this is the use of one-off 
money it still leaves an underlying issue.  Nonetheless Government will expect 
reserves to be utilised and have been critical of the level of reserves held by 
Councils.  Reserves will be an essential part of balancing the Swale budget. 

10. The Council has taken the following action on its reserves: 

Sheppey Improvement fund 

11. Cabinet agreed on 16 December 2020 to allocate £250,000 of the £1.1m Malro 
capital receipt to a Sheerness Improvement Fund.  The intention is to use this 
fund to support the following projects: 

• Sheerness War Memorial; 

• To connect the Sea Cadets facility, Barton’s Point Concession, Toilet and 
Shower Block to Mains Drainage; 

• Installation of new toilet facility in Beachfields car park. 

12. Because this is funded from a capital receipt, it means that the only projects 
that can be paid for from this Fund are those that are capital, i.e., we have 
bought, or built or enhanced a building, or other asset(s). 

Business Rates Funds  

13. The Council has three Reserves funded from Business Rates: 

Business Rates Volatility 

14. This is used to manage the volatility of business rate income and to fund the 
Special Projects Fund by £1m a year.  

15. At 1 April 2021 the balance on this Fund was £2.8m but will reduce by £1m to 
top up the Special Projects Fund in 2021/22.   

Page 30



3 
 

16. There are no restrictions on the use of this fund which can be used to support 
the General Fund. 

Kent Pool Economic Development Business Rates 

17. This fund is due to the Council being a member of the Kent Business Rates 
Pool which enables us to keep a greater share of business rate income.   

18. It is to fund economic development as agreed by the Council and KCC.  
Therefore, it cannot be used for general use such as supporting the General 
Fund. 

19. In 2019/20 it funded the new Town Centres/ High Street Fund by £800k, the 
new Heritage Strategy Fund by £250k, the new Visitor Economy Framework 
Fund by £215k and the new Sheppey Lower Road Improvement Fund by £250k 
and in 2020/21 it funded the new Improvement and Resilience Fund by £1m.   

20. Cabinet agreed on 16/12/2020 that the balance on this reserve was to be 
retained for potential top ups and for new initiatives or pressures.   

21. At 1 April 2021 the balance on this Fund was £1.1m.   

North Kent Housing & Commercial Growth Business Rates 

22. In 2018/19 Kent was selected to be a “Business Rates Pilot” by the 
Government which meant that we could keep a greater proportion of business 
rate income for that year. 

23. Under the Kent Pilot agreement there was an allocation of funds called the 
“Housing & Commercial Growth Business Rates” among “clusters” of 
authorities with Swale in the “North Kent” cluster, where use of this fund would 
be agreed among Leaders and KCC for economic and housing development.  
Therefore, it cannot be used for general use such as supporting the General 
Fund. 

24. Cabinet on 16/12/2020 agreed that this fund was to be used to fund the Swale 
Rainbow Local Housing Company, for set up costs and future investment, 
including possible investment in Sheppey.  

25. At 1 April 2021 the balance on this Fund was £1.7m. 

All Reserves 

As part of the budget preparation process for 2022/23, all Heads of Service have 
been asked to review their reserves.  Appendix II shows details of the Council’s main 
reserves.   

 

 

 

Page 31



Appendix I 
Budget 2021/22 

4 
 

 SERVICE STAFFING £ 
CONTRACTS 

£ 
OTHER 

COSTS £ 

GROSS 
EXPENDITURE 

£ 

GRANT 
INCOME £ 

OTHER 
INCOME £ 

NET COST £ 

Refuse Collection 0  2,890,710  187,500  3,078,210  0  (151,950) 2,926,260  

Homelessness Temporary Accommodation 0  0  2,671,080  2,671,080  (564,580) (723,510) 1,382,990  

Ground Maintenance 0  1,338,810  0  1,338,810  0  0  1,338,810  

Street Cleansing 0  1,144,850  32,440  1,177,290  (31,590) (21,330) 1,124,370  

Lower Medway Internal Drainage Board 0  0  876,000  876,000  0  0  876,000  

Financial Services 749,710  0  54,150  803,860  0  (6,000) 797,860  

IT Maintenance & Equipment 0  0  737,250  737,250  0  0  737,250  

Democratic Process 111,230  0  546,950  658,180  0  (80) 658,100  

Client & Amenity Services Staffing 630,560  0  19,020  649,580  0  0  649,580  

Housing Advice/Housing Options 873,080  0  14,450  887,530  (250,750) 0  636,780  

Customer Service Centre 538,420  55,280  15,540  609,240  0  (19,600) 589,640  

Planning Staffing 1,808,700  0  112,710  1,921,410  0  (1,363,050) 558,360  

Information Technology 0  0  514,580  514,580  0  0  514,580  

Communities & Economic Staffing 473,910  0  13,660  487,570  0  0  487,570  

Supply of Insurance Cover 0  0  448,440  448,440  0  0  448,440  

Administrative Buildings 169,910  0  318,650  488,560  0  (43,940) 444,620  

Mid Kent Legal Services 1,489,650  0  76,290  1,565,940  0  (1,129,460) 436,480  

Property Services Staffing 368,800  0  73,130  441,930  0  (8,500) 433,430  

Leisure & Sports Centres 0  410,280  1,470  411,750  0  0  411,750  

Environmental Response Staffing 346,050  0  63,410  409,460  0  0  409,460  

Elections & Electoral Registration 312,090  0  81,090  393,180  0  (1,500) 391,680  

Benefit Administration 777,220  0  101,250  878,470  (530,510) (500) 347,460  

Public Conveniences 0  256,990  83,230  340,220  0  (210) 340,010  

Private Sector Housing 303,360  15,500  23,660  342,520  0  (16,740) 325,780  

Contracts and Procurement Staffing 278,930  0  37,280  316,210  0  0  316,210  

Community Safety 253,390  0  61,060  314,450  0  (50) 314,400  

Food Safety 0  0  282,480  282,480  0  (4,300) 278,180  

Human Resources Shared Services 0  0  256,340  256,340  0  0  256,340  

Parking Staff 101,010  0  166,000  267,010  0  (19,020) 247,990  

P
age 32



Appendix I 
Budget 2021/22 

5 
 

 SERVICE STAFFING £ 
CONTRACTS 

£ 
OTHER 

COSTS £ 

GROSS 
EXPENDITURE 

£ 

GRANT 
INCOME £ 

OTHER 
INCOME £ 

NET COST £ 

Buildings Maintenance 0  240,500  0  240,500    240,500  

Chief Executive 229,430  0  10,310  239,740  0  0  239,740  

Policy & Performance 234,380  0  3,530  237,910  0  0  237,910  

Environmental Shared Services 0  0  230,330  230,330  0  0  230,330  

Communications Staffing 217,300  0  8,040  225,340  0  0  225,340  

Commissioning, Environment & Leisure Staffing 213,000  0  10,830  223,830  0  0  223,830  

Mid Kent Planning Support 0  0  221,530  221,530  0  0  221,530  

Seafront 172,550  39,200  55,770  267,520  0  (58,000) 209,520  

Council Tax and Business Rates Collection 606,950  0  247,540  854,490  (190,430) (459,000) 205,060  

Local Planning & Conservation 0  0  196,990  196,990  0  (350) 196,640  

Strategic Resources 400,810  0  9,760  410,570  (214,170) 0  196,400  

Audit Shared Services 0  0  182,120  182,120  0  0  182,120  

Tourism 143,720  0  23,720  167,440  0  0  167,440  

Closed Circuit Television (CCTV) 81,710  44,390  29,320  155,420  0  0  155,420  

Community Services Grants/Support 0  0  149,730  149,730  0  0  149,730  

Data Protection Resource 137,760  0  920  138,680  0  0  138,680  

Parks & Open Spaces 36,370  0  240,970  277,340  (124,050) (23,780) 129,510  

Housing Development Strategy and Health 123,510  0  97,400  220,910  (93,740) 0  127,170  

Countryside & Country Parks 6,450  10,300  113,630  130,380  (240) (7,550) 122,590  

Dog Warden Service 86,320  0  41,350  127,670  0  (7,500) 120,170  

Members Grants 0  0  112,800  112,800  0  0  112,800  

Salaries Overheads 103,380  0  8,220  111,600  0  (1,170) 110,430  

Community Services Grant 0  0  100,000  100,000  0  0  100,000  

Resilience Planning 92,940  0  5,690  98,630  0  0  98,630  

Sports Development 45,440  0  44,000  89,440  0  0  89,440  

Climate Change 74,760  0  400  75,160  0  0  75,160  

GIS 0  0  74,050  74,050  0  0  74,050  

Building Control 0  66,220  0  66,220  0  0  66,220  

Apprenticeships 35,370  0  29,230  64,600  0  0  64,600  

P
age 33



Appendix I 
Budget 2021/22 

6 
 

 SERVICE STAFFING £ 
CONTRACTS 

£ 
OTHER 

COSTS £ 

GROSS 
EXPENDITURE 

£ 

GRANT 
INCOME £ 

OTHER 
INCOME £ 

NET COST £ 

Corporate Costs Including External Audit Fee 0  0  63,640  63,640  0  0  63,640  

External Legal Fees 0  0  49,930  49,930  0  0  49,930  

Parish Councils (Footway Lighting) 0  0  39,710  39,710  0  0  39,710  

Treasury Management & Bank Charges 0  0  38,920  38,920  0  0  38,920  

Corporate Costs (Publications) 0  0  42,790  42,790  0  (6,000) 36,790  

Learning & Skills 0  0  36,780  36,780  0  0  36,780  

Administrative Buildings - Telephones 0  0  36,830  36,830  0  (1,000) 35,830  

Sittingbourne Town Centre Development 0  0  28,000  28,000  0  0  28,000  

Corporate Costs 0  0  23,000  23,000  0  0  23,000  

Advertising 0  0  14,530  14,530  0  0  14,530  

Pollution Control 0  1,820  30,170  31,990  0  (19,000) 12,990  

Heritage 0  0  12,510  12,510  0  0  12,510  

Arts Events & Activities 0  0  10,000  10,000  0  0  10,000  

Homelessness Temp Accommodation SBC 
Houses 

27,080  0  12,570  39,650  0  (32,980) 6,670  

Electric Car 0  0  4,200  4,200  0  0  4,200  

Licences 166,770  0  3,480  170,250  0  (166,640) 3,610  

Youth 0  0  3,430  3,430  0  0  3,430  

Allotments 0  0  3,460  3,460  0  (720) 2,740  

Noise Control 0  500  2,360  2,860  0  (500) 2,360  

Risk Management 0  0  2,100  2,100  0  0  2,100  

Public Health 0  0  5,020  5,020  0  (3,000) 2,020  

Health & Safety (Property) 0  0  2,000  2,000  0  0  2,000  

Unauthorised Encampments 0  0  50  50  0  0  50  

Sale of Council House Mortgages 0  0  30  30  0  0  30  

Community Halls/Centres 0  0  0  0  0  (360) (360) 

Harbour & Quays 0  0  2,630  2,630  0  (3,560) (930) 

Health & Safety (MKS Environmental Services) 0  0  230  230  0  (4,500) (4,270) 

Highways 0  20,900  9,860  30,760  0  (35,500) (4,740) 

P
age 34



Appendix I 
Budget 2021/22 

7 
 

 SERVICE STAFFING £ 
CONTRACTS 

£ 
OTHER 

COSTS £ 

GROSS 
EXPENDITURE 

£ 

GRANT 
INCOME £ 

OTHER 
INCOME £ 

NET COST £ 

Pest Control 0  0  0  0  0  (5,000) (5,000) 

Sports Pitches & Pavilions 0  0  19,860  19,860  0  (25,460) (5,600) 

King George V Pavilion 0  0  7,680  7,680  0  (14,000) (6,320) 

Animal Welfare 0  0  6,000  6,000  0  (16,000) (10,000) 

Environmental Anti Littering/Graffiti Response 0  3,000  97,000  100,000  0  (110,800) (10,800) 

Coast Protection 0  9,620  1,000  10,620  (23,600) 0  (12,980) 

Cemeteries & Closed Churchyards 0  0  98,760  98,760  0  (120,290) (21,530) 

Markets 0  0  9,000  9,000  0  (39,520) (30,520) 

Stay Put Scheme Grants 197,980  0  196,260  394,240  (109,980) (316,320) (32,060) 

Hackney Carriages 0  0  8,850  8,850  0  (89,300) (80,450) 

Investment Income & Interest Payable 0  0  72,900  72,900  0  (171,370) (98,470) 

Benefits 0  0  34,468,440  34,468,440  (34,228,850) (400,000) (160,410) 

Restructure Savings (161,840)  0  0  (161,840)  0  0  (161,840) 

Local Land Charges 0  0  58,290  58,290  0  (236,000) (177,710) 

Recycling & Waste Minimisation 0  0  0  0  (297,900) (580,000) (877,900) 

Parking Management 0  629,390  850,700  1,480,090  0  (2,885,170) (1,405,080) 

Property Management 0  0  121,670  121,670  0  (1,851,310) (1,729,640) 

 

 

P
age 35



Appendix II 
Reserves 31 March 2021 

8 
 

 

Reserve £’000  Description 

Business Rates Volatility -2,827 
To assist the Council in managing the volatility of business rate income as a result of business rate 
localisation. 

North Kent Housing & Commercial Growth Business 
Rates 

-1,673 

Under the Kent Business Rates 2018/19 Pilot there was to be an allocation of funds called the Housing & 
Commercial Growth Business Rates which was allocated among “clusters” of authorities for each cluster 
to determine the final allocation.  SBC is in the “North Kent” cluster.  Cabinet on 16/12/2020 agreed that 
this fund was to be used to fund the Local Housing Company, for set up costs and future investment, 
including possible investment in Sheppey.  Minute 350/12/2020. 

Revenue and Benefits -1,415 
Savings made in the Revenues and Benefits section, including unspent grants were transferred to this 
reserve.  This is used to cover the shortfall in Government grant. 

Preceptors Council Tax Support -1,158 Paid by KCC, Police and Fire to reflect the costs of Council Tax support localisation. 

Kent Pool Economic Development Business Rates  -1,094 

This fund has been established as a result of the Council joining the Kent Business Rates Pool.  It is to 
fund economic development as agreed by the Council and KCC.  As agreed by Cabinet on 16/12/2020 
the balance on this reserve is to be retained for potential top ups and for new initiatives or pressures.  
Minute 350/12/2020. 

Special Project Fund -1,055 

The Cabinet meeting 10 July 2019 proposal to set up a Special Projects Fund was agreed.  The 
commitment is to allocate £1m per annum from accumulated business rate reserves to the funds.  The 
fund is being used to deliver tangible projects for the residents of the borough making the public spaces 
cleaner and better presented.  Minute 122/07/2019. 

Improvement and Resilience Fund -1,000 
The Cabinet meeting on 16 Dec 2020 agreed the transfer of £1m from the Kent Pool Economic 
Development Business Rates Fund to the “Improvement and Resilience Fund”.  Minute 350/12/2020. 

Town Centres / High Streets Fund -758 
The Cabinet meeting 16 December 2020 agreed that £800k of shared business rates will be now 
allocated to Town Centres.  Minute 350/12/2020. 

Building Maintenance -563 
To meet items of backlog building maintenance as identified in the Council’s medium-term maintenance 
plan as well as urgent or unexpected items.  Each year the reserve is topped up by any underspend on 
the building maintenance revenue budget. 

Repairs & Renewals -455 
Regular contributions are made to this fund from the General Fund for a number of services to fund the 
future cost of significant items of expenditure. 

Communities Fund  -411 This is to support the Council’s Localism Agenda. 

STC Retail Park -379 
This reserve is for the accounting adjustment between the value of income received and the value 
included in the accounts. 

P
age 36



Appendix II 
Reserves 31 March 2021 

9 
 

Reserve £’000  Description 

Parking  -279 
Any surplus from on-street parking is transferred to the ring fenced on-street parking account under 
Section 55 of the Road Traffic Act 1984. 

Wheeled Bins -279 To fund the new wheeled bins purchases and replacements. 

Performance  -271 To improve overall performance.  Officers can submit a bidding list of proposals.   

Commuted Sums -266 To fund play area and open space maintenance in future years. 

Stay Put Fund -238 
To support the Council’s Stay Put service which offers advice, support and help to the elderly and 
disabled, who are owner occupiers or private tenants and who need practical assistance to repair, adapt 
or improve their homes. 

Heritage Strategy -226 
The Cabinet meeting 18 December 2019 agreed to the transfer of £250,000 from the Kent Pool 
Economic Development Reserve to the Heritage Strategy.  Minute 402/12/2019. 

Visitor Economic Framework -179 
The Cabinet meeting 7 Feb 2018 agreed that the Visitor Economy Framework 2018-2023 be adopted 
and that funding of £250,000 from the shared business rates pool with Kent County Council be used to 
contribute to the delivery of the framework.  Minute 475/02/2018. 

Financial Services -179 
To fund continuous system developments for the financial systems, and meeting the costs of the 
professional advice and staff development on accounting, taxation, payments, etc. 

Local Loan Fund -175 
To support voluntary, community or not-for-profit organisations and town and parish councils in Swale to 
enable management and delivery of local services and facilities.   

Refuse and Recycling -172 
To fund on-going review of additional roads from new developments to be added on to Biffa contract and 
services including clinical, bulky and weekly collections. 

Local Development Framework -167 
Any underspend or overspend on this service on the General Fund will be transferred to this fund and 
used solely to fund Local Development Framework associated work. 

STC Bourne Place -165 
This reserve is for the accounting adjustment between the value of income received and the value 
included in the accounts. 

Regeneration -152 To fund regeneration projects in the Borough.  Officers can submit bids to this reserve.   

Housing -146 To fund the homelessness service in future years. 

Environmental Initiatives -126 
Income from Fixed Penalty notices used to support various environmental initiatives.  It is a requirement 
of the legislation that any money generated is used to create a cleaner and greener environment.   

Electoral Registration -101 To fund one-off costs of Local Authority elections in future years. 

Coronavirus - S13A Council Tax Hardship Fund -94 
This represents the balance remaining on the S13A Council Tax Hardship Fund.  According to MHCLG 
and CIPFA guidance, the Council must spend this in the provision of support to vulnerable households. 

Insurance Funds -83 The purpose of the reserve is to fund Insurance claims.   

P
age 37



Appendix II 
Reserves 31 March 2021 

10 
 

Reserve £’000  Description 

Disabled Facilities Grants (Revenue) -79 

This reserve is related to the Better Care Fund (BCF) incorporating Disabled Facilities Grants (DFG).  
Funding is from the Government and administered via KCC.  The balance of the BCF to carry over as 
agreed by Strategic Management Team and used for new or committed work to support the DFG 
service. 

Milton Creek Access Road -75 
Reserve will be used for new access road to Milton Country Park and increased security around the car 
park to stop unauthorised encampments.   

HR Shared Services -74 This reserve is funded from an underspend on the MKS HR service. 

General Democratic -67 This reserve is funded from an underspend on members’ allowances. 

Tree Survey and Works in Closed Churchyards -63 
Funding required to appoint consultants to undertake a tree condition survey across the Council’s Green 
Spaces and to fund a rolling programme of tree works. 

Cemeteries -60 
Used to cover the costs of purchasing an electronic burial records system as part of the transformation 
review recommendations and further expected costs at the new Iwade burial site. 

Faversham Creek Footpath -60 Footpath in Faversham - part of the regeneration of the Faversham Creek. 

Food and Health Safety -60 To meet Council Key Performance Indicators as well as statutory duties. 

ICT Reserve -55 
This will be used to fund IT related expenditure in future years.  Any surplus or deficit on ICT expenditure 
on software and equipment is transferred to this fund. 

Licensing -54 
Any surplus or deficit from Licensing is transferred to the ring-fenced Licensing account under Local 
Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982. 

Pension & Redundancy -52 
To meet the cost of releasing the Pension Fund benefits to staff who have taken early retirement and to 
fund all other redundancy costs.   

Closed Churchyards and War Memorials -52 This reserve is to fund continuing substantial works at St Marys closed churchyard.   

Sheppey Lower Road Improvements -50 
The Cabinet meeting 18 December 2019 agreed to £250k of the shared Kent Pool Economic 
Development Reserve being allocated to the Sheppey Lower Road improvements.  Minute 402/12/2019. 

CCTV Monitoring Control Centre Reserve -50 
The capital cost of the new CCTV system (£250k) was going to be funded from 5 years of £50k per year 
revenue savings on running costs.  This funding was approved as part of the 2020/21 capital budget. 

Area Committees Fund -72  This is to fund area committees grants allocations 

R&R CCTV  -45  Repair and replacement of CCTV. 

Advertising and Promotion -39 Costs of a peer review and implementing any recommendations. 

CIL Implementation Reserve -35  Community Infrastructure Levy Implementation Reserve.  To be used to set up the CIL. 

Channel Shift -33  IT development of customer system 

MKS Charges for Environmental Services -33  Support staffing costs 

Public Conveniences Cleaning -32 Support physical improvements to the facilities. 

P
age 38



Appendix II 
Reserves 31 March 2021 

11 
 

Reserve £’000  Description 

Collection Fund Deficit Reserve -6,546 
This reserve is funded by Government grants to be fully used to offset the business rate collection fund 
deficit as a result of increased business rate reliefs announced by Government in response to the 
coronavirus pandemic. 

Collection Fund Tax Income Guarantee (TIG) -750 

The Government announced, as part of a consultative policy paper a scheme to fund 75% of 
irrecoverable losses in council tax and business rates.  This is known as the Tax Guarantee Scheme 
Grant.  The methodology differs between council tax and business rates.  These will be fully used to help 
fund the Council’s share of the deficit on the collection fund for 2020/21 in future years and therefore 
they have been transferred to a reserve. 

Smaller reserves -488  

Total -25,010   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 39



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	7 Revised Commissioning & Procurement Policy
	Appendix I - DRAFT Commissioning and Procurement Policy 08.09.21

	8 2022/23 Budget and Reserves

